I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The petitioner is Deborah Peralta, appellant in the Court of 

Appeals and plaintiff in the Clark County Superior Court proceeding. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Peralta seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision in Peralta v. 

State of Washington and Washington State Patrol, No. 45575-7-II, 2015 

Wash. App. LEXIS 3061 (December 23, 2015) (attached as appendix A). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Does the "law of the case" control the judgment? To put it another 

way, should a verdict that expresses the jury's intent and that is consistent 

with the trial court's instructions be given effect, even if the instructions 

happen to be wrong? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Sergeant Ryan of the Washington State Patrol (WSP) drove his 

cruiser into Peralta while she was standing in the street waiting for her 

brother to pick her up after a party. It was dark outside, and according to 

four eyewitness accounts, Tanner was driving without his headlights. 

There was also evidence that he was speeding. 

Tanner denied that. He also claimed that Peralta's dark clothing 

prevented him from seeing her. For her part, Peralta has no memory of 



the events leading to her injuries. 

The jury was asked to resolve the conflicting accounts of what 

happened and to find and apportion fault. Based on the evidence it heard, 1 

the jury found both parties at fault, but Peralta more than WSP. Her share 

of the combined fault was 58 percent, and WSP's was 42 percent. The 

jury also found that Peralta had suffered $1,261,000 in damages. Verdict, 

CP 387- 88, app. Jl-2. The jury's findings were based on an instruction-

an erroneous instruction, the Court of Appeals said - that Peralta was 

intoxicated as a matter of law, and another instruction- not challenged by 

WSP- that her intoxication-related fault would reduce her award of 

damages proportionally, but not bar it altogether. 

After the verdict, Peralta submitted a proposed judgment that 

awarded her $529,620 in damages, or 42 percent of the total damages, 

based on WSP's share of the combined fault. The trial court rejected 

Peralta's judgment and instead entered one proposed by WSP, which 

dismissed Peralta's complaint with prejudice. 

In choosing WSP's proposed judgment, the trial court relied on 

RCW 5.40.060, which provides that it is a "complete defense to an action 

for damages for personal injury ... that the person injured ... was under 

the influence of intoxicating liquor ... at the time of the occurrence 

1 As explained in the Court of Appeals opinion, the trial court erroneously 
excluded some evidence favorable to plaintiff. 
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causing the injury ... and that such condition was a proximate cause of 

the injury ... and the trier of fact finds such person to have been more 

than fifty percent at fault."2 As explained below, the trial court's decision 

was a mistake. RCW 5.40.060 might be the law in Washington generally, 

but it is not the law for this case, because, as noted above, the trial court 

gave a contrary instruction, which WSP did not challenge. The 

unchallenged instruction told the jurors that Peralta's negligence, although 

alcohol-related, diminished her damages but did not prevent recovery 

altogether. And, as it turns out, that is just what the jury understood and 

intended, based on their post-verdict discussions with court and counsel. 

2 The statute provides in relevant part: 

(1) Except as provided in subsection (2) ofthis 
section, it is a complete defense to an action for damages 
for personal injury or wrongful death that the person 
injured or killed was under the influence of intoxicating 
liquor or any drug at the time of the occurrence causing the 
injury or death and that such condition was a proximate 
cause of the injury or death and the trier of fact finds such 
person to have been more than fifty percent at fault. * * * 

(2) In an action for damages for personal injury or 
wrongful death that is brought against the driver of a motor 
vehicle who was under the influence of intoxicating liquor 
or any drug at the time of the occurrence causing the injury 
or death and whose condition was a proximate cause of the 
injury or death, subsection ( 1) of this section does not 
create a defense against the action notwithstanding that the 
person injured or killed was also under the influence so 
long as such person's condition was not a proximate cause 
of the occurrence causing the injury or death. 

3 



A. The Instructions and the Verdict 

The jury was instructed, without objection by WSP, about the 

effect of finding both Peralta and WSP negligent. Instruction Number 7 

told the jurors that, in that event, they would be asked to determine the 

parties' shares of the combined negligence, "expressed as a percentage," 

which would "furnish the basis" for the apportionment of - and, hence, 

the award of- Peralta's damages: 

If you find contributory negligence, you must determine 
the degree of negligence, expressed as a percentage, 
attributable to the person claiming injury or damage. The 
court will furnish you [with] a special verdict form for this 
purpose. Your answers to the questions [ o ]n the special 
verdict form will furnish the basis by which the court will 
apportion damages, if any. 

CP 350, app. D. 

This instruction informed the jurors that Peralta's negligence 

would serve to diminish her recovery in proportion to her share of 

combined fault, but would not bar her recovery, even if her share of 

alcohol related fault exceeded fifty percent. And that is exactly how the 

jury understood it. 

Another instruction, Number 18, explained that Peralta's 

intoxication was only a factor to consider in determining whether she was 

negligent, not a reason to deny any recovery: 

A person who becomes intoxicated voluntarily is held to 
the same standard of care as one who is not so affected. 
Whether a person is intoxicated at the time of an 
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occurrence may be considered by the jury, together with all 
the other facts and circumstances, in determining whether 
that person was negligent. 

CP 361, app. E. 

The instmctions on the verdict form conveyed the same message 

as the instmctions read in court - that a finding of intoxication and fault 

above fifty percent would not bar plaintiffs recovery. The form 

instmcted the jurors to skip Question 7 - which asked them to determine 

Peralta's damages- only ifthey answered "no" to the question whether 

WSP was negligent (Question 1) or "no" to the question whether WSP's 

negligence caused Peralta's injuries (Question 2). In other words, the 

jurors were instmcted to proceed to Question 7 and determine Peralta's 

damages unless they found that WSP was not negligent or that its 

negligence did not cause her injuries. It did not matter whether they later 

found Peralta was also negligent (Question 4), that her negligence was 

alcohol related (Question 5), or that her share of the combined fault was 

greater than fifty percent (Question 6). No matter how they responded to 

those questions, the verdict form still directed them to go to Question 7 

and determine Peralta's damages, clearly indicating that, whatever their 

findings on intoxication and comparative fault, Peralta would recover 

damages - reduced, of course, in proportion to her fault. And, as 

explained below again, this is just what the jurors understood the 

instmctions to say. 

5 



WSP did not object to the instructions when given, nor to the 

verdict form when returned. 8C RP 1958-59. 

B. What the Jurors Understood 

After the verdict was received and while the lawyers were still 

present, the trial judge retired to the jury room and spoke to the jurors in 

private. 8C RP 1962-64. He explained to them that, in his view, their 

finding that intoxication was a proximate cause of the collision coupled 

with their finding that plaintiff was more than fifty percent at fault meant 

that Peralta was barred from recovering. 8C RP 1962-64. The jurors were 

surprised and disappointed. Id. 

They told the judge that they were unaware that this was the effect 

of their findings and that this was not what they intended. CP 445-53. 

They explained that they understood the instructions to mean that Peralta 

was entitled to recover the damages they awarded her, reduced by the 

percentage of fault they attributed to her, without regard to whether her 

fault was alcohol related or exceeded fifty percent. !d. In other words, 

they understood Instruction 7 to mean what it says. 

The jurors also told the trial judge that their understanding of the 

law, as provided in the jury instructions, was that plaintiffs negligence, 

alcohol related or not, would only serve to reduce her recovery, not bar it 

altogether, and that they intended to award her damages: 

6 



He said that by answering alcohol was a proximate cause of 
her injury, Ms. Peralta was barred from recovering. We 
explained to Judge Gregerson that was not the jury's intent. 
We also explained to Judge Gregerson that we were never 
instructed that finding Ms. Peralta's intoxication was a 
proximate cause of her injury could completely bar Ms. 
Peralta from recovering. We understood from the 
instructions and the structure of the verdict form that we 
were only considering how much Ms. Peralta's negligence 
should reduce her recovery. 

CP 452-53 (Declaration of Juror Horst); see also CP 445-46 (Declaration 

of Foreman Hayes); CP 447-48 (Declaration of Juror Ford); CP 449-50 

(Declaration of Juror Copple). 

The trial judge returned to the courtroom, but did not inform 

counsel about his views on the verdict or his conversation with the jury. 

8C RP 1962-63. Instead, he dismissed the jury. Id. 

The following day, one of the jurors emailed Peralta's counsel, 

expressing the jury's disappointment and displeasure with how the trial 

judge interpreted their verdict: 

I served on the jury for Deborah Peralta. When we came to 
the agreement for her to receive a financial settlement, we 
all came into the court room believing she would be 
awarded the $1.2+ million (42%). Following the verdict 
and speaking with the Judge, was it only then, we dis
covered she would not receive any reward. We were all 
surprised and I can say, many of us disappointed. I am so 
sorry that somehow, every one of us, did not have an 
understanding for the ruling of the intoxication weighing as 
it did. I cannot believe alll2 of us missed that and how it 
impacts the outcome. We all believed she would be 
receiving compensation. 

CP 456. 
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The initial juror's email prompted plaintiff's co-counsel to contact 

the foreman and three additional jurors. CP 454-55. They all signed 

declarations confirming that the verdict accurately reflected their intention 

to award Peralta damages in proportion to her share of fault. CP 445-53. 

C. The Judgment 

Peralta submitted a proposed money judgment reflecting the jury's 

verdict. CP 442-43. She attached the juror declarations to her proposed 

money judgment. CP 442-43. 

WSP submitted a proposed judgment that dismissed Peralta's 

complaint with prejudice. CP 497. It argued that because the jury found 

Peralta more than fifty percent at fault and that alcohol was a proximate 

cause of the collision, RCW 5.40.060 prohibited Peralta from recovering 

the jury's damage award. 

Peralta disagreed. RCW 5.40.060's bar to recovery was not the 

law of this case. The law of this case, as set out in the unchallenged jury 

instructions, was that plaintiff's fault would serve only to diminish her 

damages by the percent of fault attributed to her. CP 434-41; 484-90. 

At the hearing on the proposed judgments, the trial judge who 

spoke to the jury in the jury room vouched for the accuracy of the jurors' 

declarations: 

[MR. BLOOM]: And I assume the declarations are more or 
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less accurate for what they relay. 

[THE COURT: I think they probably are. I think it's 
probably accurate that they -- at least some of them may 
have been surprised or, to be generous, you know, 
disappointed, I guess, as to what the net effect of their 
verdict was. And so I'm very familiar with the issue and 
the question of the instructions and whether or not there 
was some confusion by the jurors under the circumstances. 

8C RP 1963. 

But the trial court's view was that the jury's intent did not matter. 

8C RP 1971. He entered the judgment proposed by WSP. CP 496-97. 

D. The Court of Appeals Decision 

Peralta appealed. In her first assignment of error, she asked the 

Court of Appeals to reverse the trial court's judgment and enter her 

proposed judgment instead. She argued that her judgment is consistent 

with the jury's intent and the unchallenged instructions, which, she said, 

constituted the law of the case for this case. In the alternative, Peralta 

sought reversal and a new trial based on evidentiary error. The Court of 

Appeals denied Peralta's first assignment of error, but reversed based on 

the evidentiary errors. 

Though it refused to enter Peralta's proposed judgment, the Court 

of Appeals agreed with her about what the jury was instructed. It agreed, 

in particular, that the jurors were told to apportion fault, if they found that 

Peralta's own negligence contributed to her injuries, and they were not 
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told that a finding of fault above fifty percent would bar her recovery: 

Here, the trial court instructed the jury on the law, but it did 
not instruct the jury on the effect of the law. In other 
words, the court told the jury to apportion fault if it found 
the plaintiffs negligence was a proximate cause of her 
injury. It did not tell the jury to not award damages to 
Peralta if it found her more than 50 percent negligent. 

Peralta at app. 15. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

As always, the court's duty in interpreting a verdict is to ascertain 

the jurors' intent and, so long as it is consistent with the law, give it effect 

in the ensuing judgment. Wright v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 7 Wn.2d 341, 

344, 109 P .2d 542 (1941 ). If the verdict expresses the jury's intent, and it 

is consistent with the law of the case, the court is bound to enter a 

judgment that reflects the verdict. Blue Chelan, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & 

Indus., 101 Wn.2d 512, 515, 681 P.2d 233 (1984); City Bond & Share, 

Inc. v. Klement, 165 Wash. 408, 410-11, 5 P.2d 523 (1931). The law of 

the case is "the law as laid down by the court, or, in other words, [the] 

instructions."' State v. Brent, 30 Wn.2d 286, 289, 191 P.2d 682 (1948). 

This Court should allow review, because the Court of Appeals 

decision is inconsistent with the longstanding law of the case doctrine, as 

developed by this Court as well as the Court of Appeals. See RAP 

13.4(b)(l) and (2) (considerations for review include conflict between the 
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Court of Appeals decision and Supreme Court decisions or other Court of 

Appeals decisions). 

"The law of the case is an established doctrine with roots reaching 

back to the earliest days of statehood." State v. Hickman, 13 5 Wn.2d 97, 

101, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) (footnote omitted). The doctrine provides that 

"jury instructions not objected to become the law of the case," id. at 102, 

and thus control the entry of judgment. Take, for example, a criminal 

case. If an unopposed instruction adds an element to the crime charged, 

the State assumes the burden of proving that element and cannot obtain a 

judgment of conviction without such proof. I d.; see also State v. Benitez, 

175 Wn. App. 116,302 P.3d 877 (2013) ("In a criminal case, ifthe State 

adds an unnecessary element in the 'to convict' instruction without 

objection, the State assumes the burden of proving the added element.") .. 

The same goes for civil cases. Unopposed instructions can change 

the law for any given case, modifying what would otherwise be a valid 

claim or defense. For example, in Thomas v. French, 30 Wn. App. 811, 

817,638 P.2d 613 (1981), rev'd on other grounds, 99 Wn.2d 95,659 P.2d 

1097 (1983), the defendant did not except to an instruction that emotional 

distress is compensable for a breach of contract that is merely "negligent." 

That became the "law of the case," notwithstanding the rule that a breach 

must be intentional, wanton, or reckless to support an award of emotional

distress damages. Id. In Nguyen v. Glendale Construction Co., 56 Wn. 
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App. 196, 202, 782 P.2d 1110 (1989), the builder's insurer lost a time-

limit defense to a warranty claim because it did not except to instructions 

that negated the defense. In Gorman v. Pierce County, 176 Wn. App. 63, 

88, 307 P.3d 795 (2013), the plaintiff was barred from arguing 

contributory negligence was not a defense to her claim, because she failed 

to challenge an instruction to the contrary. And in Thompson v. Grays 

Harbor Community Hospital, 36 Wn. App. 300, 675 P.2d 239 (1983), a 

hospital was held vicariously liable for it agents even though the agents 

had been exonerated, because the hospital did not except to the instruction 

that failed to limit the hospital's liability to the acts of its agents. "A 

verdict is not contrary to law," the court explained, "unless it can be said 

that-'-the-verdict-of-the-jurywas-contraryto-the-law-as-laid-dvwn-by-the--------- -- - -- ------

court, or, in other words, against instructions."' Thompson, 36 Wn. App. 

at 308 (quoting State v. Brent, 30 Wn.2d 286, 289, 191 P.2d 682 (1948)) 

(emphasis added). 

In this case, as explained above, the unchallenged instructions, 

both those read in court and those on the verdict form, told the jurors that 

Peralta's negligence would only serve to reduce her damages in proportion 

to her share of combined fault, even if her fault was due to intoxication 

and it exceeded fifty percent. In other words, the instructions explained to 

the jury that the effect of finding Peralta had alcohol related negligence 

would only serve to reduce her recovery, not bar it altogether. Which is 
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what the instructions are supposed to do: explain the effect of various 

findings. See Case v. Peterson, 17 Wn.2d 523, 527, 136 P.2d 192 (1943) 

("When the court instructs a jury on a subject such as contributory 

negligence, it should define the term and then advise what effect it should 

give to a finding that contributory negligence existed as a guide to the 

verdict it should render."). 

To be sure, the instructions in this case did not explain the effect of 

finding that Peralta's alcohol-related negligence was more than fifty 

percent under RCW 5.40.060. Under RCW 5.40.060, such a finding 

would have barred, not just reduced, her recovery. But the jury was not 

instructed on that effect- in fact, it was instructed just the opposite. And 

WSP did not object. So that effect- reduce but not bar damages- became 

the law for this case. 

It does not matter that the effect of the instructions is not consistent 

with the actual law, as set out in RCW 5.40.060. The jury was not 

instructed on the effect ofRCW 5.40.060. If the jury was not instructed 

on it, it cannot be the law of the case. The "law of the case" is the "the 

law as laid down by the court, or, in other words, [the] instructions." State 

v. Brent, 30 Wn.2d 286, 289, 191 P.2d 682 (1948). To put it another way, 

the law-of-the-case doctrine becomes meaningless if the court is allowed 

to apply law to the jury's findings that is different than what the jury was 

given at trial. That is, after all, the whole point of the doctrine: to 

13 



determine the law for a particular case upon which the jury can rely in 

making its findings and rendering its verdict. 

It may have been different if the jurors had understood the 

instructions to say something else. But that is not the situation here. The 

jurors understood the instructions to say, contrary to RCW 5.40.060, that 

Peralta's fault had the effect of diminishing her recovery but not 

precluding it, which meant she could recover 42 percent of her damages, 

based on the jury's findings. And that is just what the jurors intended to 

happen, according to their verdict, their post-verdict discussions with the 

judge, and their subsequent declarations in support of Peralta's request for 

entry of her proposed money judgment. 

Here, the jury's intent, as reflected by the verdict, the jurors' 

declarations, even the trial judge's on-the-record statements, was to award 

Peralta damages. Here also, the law of this case, as set out in the 

unchallenged jury instructions and verdict form, was that Peralta's 

negligence would only serve to reduce her recovery in proportion to her 

share of combined fault, even if her fault was due to intoxication and 

exceeded fifty percent. 

Where the verdict answers are reconcilable with the law of the 

case, as is the situation here, the trial court must enter judgment 

accordingly. Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc'y, 124 Wn.2d 121,

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