RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 21, 2016, 12:28 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER

CLERK

NO. 92675-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

(Court of Appeals, Division II No. 45575-7)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEBORAH PERALTA,

Petitioner,

ν.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, WASHINGTON STATE PATROL,

Respondent.

RESPONSE AND CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE PUZ SENIOR COUNSEL WSBA #17407 PO BOX 40126 OLYMPIA, WA 98504 (360) 586-6300 OID #91023

FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

³ Significantly, Peralta told Deputy Taylor that she knew she was too intoxicated to drive when she left the party, an admission her hospital blood test confirmed. RP at 1347.

NW 78th Street had no street lights or other illumination, and witnesses testified the street was "pitch black." RP at 237, 295, 1417-19. Dressed in brown boots, blue jeans and a black sweater, Peralta crossed the bike lane, two eastbound lanes and the center turn lane on NW 78th Street in an attempt to deliberately position herself directly in front of the headlights of the westbound vehicle she saw coming down the hill towards her. RP at 1350. Still speaking with Peralta by phone, Jorge again told his sister he did not see her. Peralta responded that she was right in front of Jorge's car and the two cars behind him. A RP at 875. Jorge responded his was the only car driving down the hill. He then heard a scream and the cell phone connection with Peralta ended. RP at 876.

Peralta had purposefully walked directly in front of the headlights of the fully marked patrol car driven by Trooper Tanner. Tanner was on his way to assist Sergeant Rhine who had previously stopped a driver with an outstanding misdemeanor warrant. RP at 1091. Tanner did not have his emergency lights turned on, nor did he need to. RP at 1097. Although Tanner did not look at his speedometer, he estimated his speed at approximately 40 m.p.h., or 5 m.p.h. above the posted speed limit. RP at 1143-44. As he drove down the NW 78th Street hill, Tanner

⁴ Jorge did not own a car, and borrowed a friend's car to pick up his sister. Peralta had no idea what kind of car he was driving. Without knowing or asking Jorge, Peralta assumed that he was in the first of the three vehicles she saw driving towards her. RP at 866.

suddenly saw a pair of blue jeans appear out of nowhere moving slowly from his left to his right directly in front of his patrol car. RP at 1101-02. Tanner applied his brakes and turned sharply, but was unable to avoid Peralta. RP at 1104-05. Tanner stopped his patrol car in the center turn lane, turned on his emergency lights and called for medical assistance. RP at 1102, 1106. Peralta was taken to Southwest Medical Center.

The hospital blood test taken less than 30 minutes after her arrival established that Peralta had a 0.167 serum blood alcohol level. CP at 158; RP at 1239. From this blood test Dr. Tac Lam, an expert toxicologist calculated to a 67 percent mathematical certainty that Peralta's blood alcohol concentration (BAC) reached between 0.13 to 0.16, or 1 ½ to 2 times greater than the legal limit of .08.6 RP at 1234, 1242.

The Clark County Sheriff's Department arrived minutes after Tanner's call for aid. RP at 1114-15. Because the accident involved one of its troopers, WSP asked, and Clark County agreed, to investigate the accident. The matter was assigned to Clark County Deputy Ryan Taylor. RP at 1304. Deputy Taylor documented the accident scene and physical evidence. His subsequent investigation also included interviews of Tanner,

⁵ Peralta submitted the results of this blood test in her ER 904 submission, asserting it was both "authentic and admissible." CP at 11. WSP agreed, and the trial court admitted the blood test results into evidence. CP at 15-19, 385; RP at 1073, 1140-41, 1144, 1238-39. Peralta did not assign error to the admission of this blood test result.

⁶ Taking the same mathematical formula out two standard deviations, Dr. Lam testified, to a 95 percent certainty, that Peralta's BAC was at least 0.11. RP at 1258.

Christina, Jorge, and Peralta herself. RP at 1302, 1306, 1339-50. Sometime after Clark County finished its investigation, several individuals came forward. Each said when they looked up the NW 78th Street hill after the accident Tanner's headlights were off. See RP at 220, 279, 318, 943. These witnesses' assertions stood in sharp contrast to the statements of the only individuals who actually witnessed the accident: Trooper Tanner and Peralta. Both Tanner and Peralta agreed the headlights of Tanner's patrol car were on at the time of the accident. RP at 818 (Peralta told Christina Price she saw the vehicle headlights), 875 (Peralta told Jorge she saw the vehicle headlights), 1099 (Tanner testified the lights on his vehicle were on), 1351 (Peralta and Tanner told Deputy Taylor the patrol vehicle's headlights were on at the time of the accident).

IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The "law of the case" issue presented by Peralta does not present an issue that warrants this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b). First, as this Court just affirmed, jurors' post-verdict declarations that complain about not understanding jury instructions and purport to explain the intent behind answers to the special verdict questions, inhere in the verdict and cannot be considered on appeal. *Long v. Brusco Tug & Barge*, No. 90976-8, 2016 WL 743926, *1-2 (Feb. 25, 2016). Second, the trial court correctly instructed the jury on both defenses. RCW 5.40.060 works

within Washington's comparative fault scheme. The assertion of one defense does not render the other meaningless or support Peralta's strained arguments that the instructions "establish" that she should be compensated contrary to RCW 5.40.060. Thus, Instruction 19 properly informed the jury about the elements of the alcohol defense. Then, as the Court of Appeals correctly held, the trial court properly determined the legal effect of the special verdict findings. The Court of Appeals ruling presents no conflict with prior cases or any reason for this Court to rehear Peralta's "law of the case" argument about these instructions.

WSP's cross-petition, however, raises an issue that does warrant review under RAP 13.4(b) standards. WSP seeks to affirm the trial court's determination that Peralta's CR 36 admission fulfilled the first element of the alcohol defense. See CP at 363 (Instruction 20). The Court of Appeals erroneously required compliance with RCW 46.61.502(1), a statutory standard used to prove a person was under the influence. But in this case that fact was conclusively established for all purposes in this litigation by Peralta's unqualified CR 36 admission. The Court of Appeals error improperly limits CR 36 admissions in a way that is inconsistent with the plain language and purpose of this rule, and interjects doubt about the extent that trial judges, litigants and juries should treat such admissions at trial. This is a matter of substantial public importance warranting review

by this Court. 7 RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Issue in Peralta's Petition Does Not Warrant this Court's Review

1. The Juror Declarations Peralta Relies on Inhere in the Verdict and Cannot Be Considered on Appeal

Peralta does not allege jury misconduct.⁸ But she relies on post-verdict declarations of four jurors to support her claims that the jury misunderstood the jury instructions, and that the judgment entered was inconsistent with the jury's true intent. From this she argues that the trial court erred by applying the statutory alcohol defense to the verdict, claiming that pure apportionment of damages became the "law of the case." Pet. Review at 6-8, 14. Because Peralta's petition is premised on post-verdict juror declarations which cannot be considered, Peralta cannot satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), and review should be denied.

As this Court recently affirmed, facts linked to a juror's motive, intent, or belief, or which describe their effect upon the jury, inhere in the

⁷ After making its decision to remand, the Court of Appeals addressed three pre-trial evidentiary issues not necessary to its decision. The Court of Appeals did not determine if any of these evidentiary errors were harmful, because it was already remanding, but WSP briefing demonstrated they were harmless. Respondent's Brief at 39-50. If the Court accepts review of WSP's cross petition and holds that Peralta's admission satisfied the first element of RCW 5.40.060 or that the instructions were otherwise harmless error, this Court could then determine the harmlessness of these other evidentiary issues or remand to the Court of Appeals to address that point. RAP 13.7(b).

⁸ Peralta incorrectly asserts that the trial judge dismissed the jury *after* speaking to them at length about their verdict outside the presence of counsel. Pet. For Review at 6-7. As the record plainly reflects, the trial judge dismissed the jurors after the verdict was announced and the jurors were polled. Only then did he speak to the jurors outside the presence of counsel. RP at 1990-91.

verdict and cannot be considered. Long, 2016 WL 743926, *1-2 (citing Gardner v. Malone, 60 Wn.2d 836, 841, 376 P.2d 651 (1962)).

Thus, courts may consider only such facts asserted in the affidavits of jurors which relate to the claimed misconduct of the jury and do not inhere in the verdict itself. The mental processes by which individual jurors reached their respective conclusions, their motives in arriving at their verdicts, the effect the evidence may have had upon the jurors or the weight particular jurors may have given to particular evidence, or the jurors' intentions and beliefs, are all factors inhering in the jury's processes in arriving at its verdict, and, therefore, inhere in the verdict itself, and averments concerning them are inadmissible to impeach the verdict.

Cox v. Charles Wright Acad., Inc., 70 Wn.2d 173, 179-80, 422 P.2d 515, 519-20 (1967) (emphasis added).

Furthermore, the juror declarations do not lead to the result Peralta advocates. The e-mails and declarations do not state or suggest that any of the four jurors would have altered how they answered the verdict form had they understood the alcohol defense barred Peralta's recovery of damages. At best, the four juror declarations suggest that one or more of them simply misunderstood the instructions and their legal effect. Again, that misunderstanding also inheres in the verdict and cannot support the relief Peralta seeks here. Ayers By & Through Ayers v. Johnson & Johnson Baby Products Co., 117 Wn.2d 747, 769, 818 P.2d 1337, 1348 (1991).

⁹ The declarations also purport to describe the intent and motivation of other, unidentified jurors. Those hearsay statements cannot be considered by this Court. See ER 802, 805.

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined the Legal Effect of the Jury's Findings and Properly Rejected Peralta's "Law of the Case" Theory

Once a jury renders a verdict, the trial court must declare its legal effect and enter a judgment upon it. *McRae v. Tahitian, LLC*, 181 Wn. App. 638, 644, 326 P.3d 821 (2014); *Minger v. Reinhard Distrib. Co.*, 87 Wn. App. 941, 946, 943 P.2d 400 (1997); *Dep't of Highways v. Evans Engine & Equip. Co.*, 22 Wn. App. 202, 205–06, 589 P.2d 290 (1978).

Peralta's petition depends on a flawed theory that instructions must inform the jury of the effect of every statute that may influence the legal effect the trial judge (or appellate court) might impose based on the verdict findings. Taking Peralta's argument to its conclusion, a fault free plaintiff could not enforce joint and several liability against multiple defendants unless an instruction specifically informed the jury of the legal effect of joint and several liability under RCW 4.22.070(1)(b). That is not the law in Washington. *Coulter v. Asten Group, Inc.*, 135 Wn. App. 613, 626, 146 P.3d 444 (2006), *recon. denied, review denied*, 161 Wn.2d 1011 (2007). The trial court, not the jury, determines the legal effect of the verdict findings. *McRae*, 181 Wn. App. at 644.

Furthermore, Peralta's petition fails to present a significant issue for review because it ignores how Instruction 19 did inform the jury about the effect of the alcohol defense. That instruction provided:

It is a defense to an action for damages for personal injuries that the person injured was then under the influence of alcohol, that this condition was a proximate cause of the injury, and that the person was more than fifty percent at fault.

CP at 362.

This instruction correctly listed the three elements of RCW 5.40.060(1) and properly informed the jury that finding all three elements constituted a defense to the "action for damages" itself. CP at 324. Of course, Peralta was free to review and explain the impact of the alcohol defense in the two opportunities she had to address the jury in her closing argument. She simply chose not to. See RP at 1917-32, 1966-75.

Moreover, Peralta offered the proposed instruction that was later adopted as Instruction 19. CP at 324, 362. She also offered WPI 21.09, which listed the elements of the alcohol defense. Except for the inclusion noting her admission to the first element of this defense, Peralta's proposed instruction was identical to Instruction 20. *Cf.* CP at 328, 363. These instructions correctly reflect the elements and effect of RCW 5.40.060(1). Thus, both the instructions and the normal application of RCW 5.40.060(1) are the law of this case, not the misinterpretation of the law advanced by Peralta. *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P.3d 844 (2005) (citing *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101-02, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) (the law of the case includes instructions that are not objected to).

Another reason that Peralta's Petition should be rejected is that she did not object to Instruction 19, and unpreserved objections cannot be considered on appeal. *Ryder's Estate v. Kelley-Springfield Tire Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 111, 114, 587 P.2d 160 (1978) (citing *Nelson v. Mueller*, 85 Wn.2d 234, 238, 533 P.2d 383 (1975)); *see also* CR 51(f). Similarly, under the invited error doctrine, Peralta cannot challenge the adequacy of the instruction that she, herself, proposed. *State v. Bradley*, 141 Wn.2d 731, 736, 10 P.3d 358, 360 (2000).

Peralta attempts to avoid the explicit legal effect of the alcohol defense by ignoring Instructions 19 and 20 in her petition and focusing on the contributory negligence instructions. Pet. Review at 3-6. This also fails to show that the Petition presents a significant or colorable legal theory for this Court's review. By taking the contributory negligence instructions out of context, Peralta suggests they somehow negated the alcohol defense instructions. However, WSP was not required to choose between these two defenses at trial, nor does the contributory negligence instructions render Instructions 19 and 20 meaningless. A defendant may submit multiple defenses to the jury where, like here, those defenses are justified by the totality of the evidence. *Amrine v. Murray*, 28 Wn. App. 650, 654-55, 626 P.2d 24 (1981); *see also* CR 8(e)(2). Additionally, RCW 5.40.060 works within Washington's comparative fault scheme, and does not elevate one

defense over the other. *Morgan v. Johnson*, 137 Wn.2d 887, 895, 976 P.2d 619 (1999); *Hickly v. Bare*, 135 Wn. App. 676, 689-90, 145 P.3d 433 (2006).

Lastly, although Peralta claims the judgment entered by the trial court is inconsistent with the verdict findings, she failed to raise that issue after the jury reached its verdict but before it was discharged. Challenges to alleged inconsistent findings are waived unless raised prior to the discharge of the jury. See Mears v. Bethel School Dist. No. 403, 182 Wn. App. 919, 928, 332 P.3d 1077 (2014). For this reason as well, the issue in her petition should be denied.

In short, the jury was properly instructed on the alcohol defense, and trial court correctly determined that the legal effect of the verdict finding required the dismissal of Peralta's suit pursuant to RCW 5.40.060(1). Because Peralta failed to identify any conflict between the Court of Appeals ruling on these issues and established appellate precedent, review under RAP 13.4(b) is not warranted and Peralta's Petition should be denied.

B. The Cross-Petition Should Be Granted because Peralta's CR 36 Admission Satisfied The First Element Of RCW 5.40.060(1)

Peralta admitted, under oath, she was under the influence of intoxicating liquor at the time of her accident. CP at 72. As a matter of

law, that unqualified admission is "conclusively established" for all purposes in this litigation, and the trial court properly included Peralta's admission in Instruction 20. CP at 363; CR 36(b).

The Court of Appeals, however, held that Peralta's unqualified CR 36 admission did not establish the first element of the alcohol defense.

WSP's request for admission was much broader than the language of RCW 5.40.060(1). It merely asked whether Peralta was under the influence of intoxicating liquors at the time of the collision. It did not define "under the influence" as that phrase is used in RCW 5.40.060 and RCW 46.61.502. Standing alone, the phrase "under the influence" is susceptible to different interpretations.

Peralta, 2015 WL 9315558 at 7.

Respectfully, the Court of Appeals improperly analyzed Peralta's unqualified admission, and its holding is contrary to the plain language and purpose of CR 36. Indeed, CR 36 would have little or no meaning or benefit if, as Peralta argues here, a party could admit a material fact in response to a request for admission, wait two years until trial, and then suddenly offer testimony that qualified and rebutted her earlier admission.

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